RECEIVED 07-20-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV Case No. 2019AP001996 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALIJOUWON T. WATKINS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Judgment of Conviction And An Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Dane County Circuit Court, the Hon. Josann M. Reynolds, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

THOMAS B. AQUINO Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066516

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1971 aquinot@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the defendant was entitled to a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, when the jailhouse informant necessary to the prosecution's case was twice arrested and convicted for impersonating a police officer shortly after testifying against the defendant.

The circuit court denied the defendant's motion for a new trial on the grounds that it was cumulative to other impeachment evidence introduced at trial.

2. Whether a criminal case against the defendant involving two altercations was properly joined for trial with a criminal case alleging conspiracy to commit first-degree homicide a year later; and if so, whether joinder was prejudicial and the defendant was entitled to severance of the charges.

The circuit court granted the State's motion for joinder without specifically addressing the defendant's request for severance.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant does not request oral argument, and does not believe that publication will be warranted.

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 9 of 52

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Introduction

The trial in this case involved three separate incidents: (1) an alleged altercation between the defendant, Alijouwon T. Watkins, and his girlfriend; (2) an alleged altercation between Watkins and two police officers; and (3) an alleged conspiracy between Watkins and a jailmate, Damian James, to pay a sniper \$30 to assassinate one of the arresting officers.

If the "conspiracy" seems too preposterous to be true, it was. The \$30 figure came from a recorded jail phone call in which Watkins agreed to pay someone \$30 to fix his car. According to James, and James alone, this was code for a "hit" on the arresting officer. James was an experienced jailhouse snitch, who knew that setting up Watkins for additional charges would get him out of jail early. In addition, James enjoyed telling tall tales about himself, lying to Watkins and others at the jail about being a member of the Italian Mafia, the Latin Kings street gang, and the United States Marine Corps. At trial James explained away these lies with the observation that "everyone in jail has a story."

James's fantastical bent took on a different character after he was released from jail for assisting in Watkins's prosecution. Twice after Watkins's trial, James was arrested and convicted for impersonating a police officer, replete with a fake badge and gun. In one episode, James's fake identity was part of a ploy to defraud a bank.

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 10 of 52

These post-trial incidents illustrate James's untrustworthy character in a manner and to a degree unlike any other evidence at Watkins's trial. They demonstrate a willingness to plan and execute sophisticated fraudulent schemes – such as falsely accusing a jailmate of soliciting an arresting officer's murder – much more so than examples of jailhouse bluster. They also illustrate for the first time a bizarre fixation on being perceived as a heroic member of law enforcement, suggesting a motive to falsely accuse Watkins of trying to solicit the officer's assassination: so that James could play the hero and turn him in. The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Watkins's motion for a new trial on the grounds that the newly discovered impeachment evidence was cumulative to the impeachment evidence introduced at trial.

The assault and conspiracy-related allegations were charged in two separate criminal cases against Watkins. Two weeks before trial, the circuit court granted the State's motion to join the two cases, encompassing 11 separate charges, for trial. The court granted the motion. However, in doing so, the erroneously combined the separate considerations for joinder under Wis. Stat. Wis. § 971.12(1) and severance under Stat. § 971.12(3). The improper joinder was highly prejudicial to Watkins, as the State's incredibly weak case for "conspiracy" was bolstered by its relatively strong case for the assaults. Watkins is thus entitled to a new trial.

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 11 of 52

II. Procedural History

The charges for the first two alleged incidents were first brought in an eight-count complaint filed in *State v. Watkins*, Dane County Case No. 2015-CF-1579. The complaint was dismissed without prejudice on February 6, 2017, and the charges were re-filed the next day as Case No. 2017-CF-321. (R. 184). In the meantime, on June 13, 2016, the State filed the conspiracy-related charges in a three-count complaint against Watkins in Dane County Case No. 2016-CF-1270. (R. 1).

On April 19, 2017, the court ordered the two cases joined for trial over Watkins's objection. (R. 172, 183; App. 114-122). The State then filed in 2016-CF-1270 an 11-count amended information encompassing all of the charges in the both cases. (R. 31). The amended information charges Watkins as follows:

- Count 1: Misdemeanor battery, Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1);
- Count 2: Disorderly conduct, Wis. Stat. § 47.01;

¹ Watkins asks that this court take judicial notice of the Wisconsin Consolidated Court Automation Programs ("CCAP") records for the 2015 case against Watkins as well as the Dane County and Milwaukee County cases against James discussed below. Wis. Stat.§ 902.01; *Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶¶ 5, 19-20, n. 1, 346 Wis.2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (taking judicial notice of CCAP records).

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 12 of 52

- Count 3: Criminal damage to property, Wis. Stat. § 943.01(1);
- Count 4: Felony intimidation of a victim, Wis. Stat. § 940.45(3);
- Count 5: Felony intimidation of a victim, Wis. Stat. § 940.45(3);
- Count 6: Attempted battery of a peace officer, Wis. Stat. § 940.20(2);
- Count 7: Resisting an officer causing substantial bodily harm to the officer; Wis. Stat. § 946.41(2r);
- Count 8: Escape, Wis. Stat. § 946.42(3)(a);
- Count 9: Conspiracy to commit first degree intentional homicide, Wis. Stat. §§ 939.31 & 940.01(1)(a);
- Count 10: Intimidation of a witness, Wis. Stat. § 940.43(7); and
- Count 11: Solicitation of Perjury, Wis. Stat. §§ 939.30 & 946.31(1)(a).

A four-day jury trial was held from May 2-5, 2017. The jury acquitted Watkins of one charge of intimidation of a victim and of attempted battery of a law enforcement officer, but found him guilty of the remaining nine charges. (R. 119). With concurrent and consecutive sentences factored in, Watkins was

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 13 of 52

sentenced to a total of six months in jail followed by nine years of initial confinement and ten years of extended supervision. R. 126, 132).

Watkins filed a motion for postconviction relief based on newly discovered evidence. (R. 135). The court denied the motion in a written order, and this appeal follows. (R. 145; App. 101-113).

III. Factual Background

A. The McDonalds Incident

On June 27, 2015, a McDonald's employee working the drive-thru saw a man and woman in a car "swinging back and forth at each other." (R.175:91-94). The employee could not recall if the man actually struck the woman. (*Id.*) However, the woman yelled to call the police, so the employee told her shift manager of the commotion, and he called the police. (R.175:78).

The woman, V.C.,² testified that she had an argument with Watkins about using her car that day. (R.175:130-131). She admitted having a hold of his hair, and testified that he "flailed his arms" and did not necessarily intend to hit her. (*Id.*) Further, they were both yelling to call the police. (R.175:135).

 2 In order to protect their privacy, the victims are referred to by their initials in this brief.

_

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 14 of 52

B. Evading Arrest

After speaking with V.C., police escorted V.C. to the home she shared with Watkins and his mother so she could retrieve her belongings. (R. 175:194-197). Police went first to the door, and spoke with Watkins's mother to ensure that Watkins would not be present when V.C. went inside to gather her personal items. (*Id.*) The police were told that Watkins was not present, and they were given permission to walk through the home to confirm this. (*Id.*)

While the officers were inside, they heard someone leave through the garage. (R. 175:197-198). The officers went out the garage, and confirmed with some neighbors that a man had just ran out of the garage. (*Id.*) They went the direction that the neighbors pointed, and saw a man fitting the description that V.C. gave them sitting on the front steps of a house.(R. 175:201-203).

One of the officers, E.M., approached Watkins and ordered him to stand up and put his hands behind his back. (R. 175:206). When Watkins asked why he needed to do that, E.M. refused to answer him. (R. 175:206-208). Watkins eventually stood up, and turned around with his hands behind his back. (R. 175:209). After one officer put Watkins's left hand in handcuffs, the second officer, E.M., saw Watkins move his right hand toward his waistband. (R. 175:209-210). E.M. thought that Watkins was

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 15 of 52

possibly reaching for a weapon, and so bear-hugged him. (R. 175:210).

According to E.M., the officers attempted to push Watkins to the ground, but he was able to stay on his feet. (R. 175:214-215). E.M. testified that she then decided to use her electronic control device (a/k/a a "Taser") on Watkins. (R. 175:217). However, one of the probes bounced off. (*Id.*) E.M. put Watkins in a bear hug again, although the officers then realized that they had called in the wrong address for backup. (R. 175:218). E.M. testified that during the struggle, she got knocked off of Watkins and landed spine first on a fire hydrant. (R. 175:221). When E.M. tried to reengage Watkins, he elbowed her in the head. (R. 175:223).

E.M. and the other officer were able to push Watkins against a mailbox, and then radio in their correct location to the backup officers. (R. 175:225). However, the mailbox broke and Watkins was able to wriggle free and run away. (R. 175:227-228).

C. The Alleged Conspiracy with An Ex-Latin King/Mafioso/Marine Sniper To Assassinate His Arresting Officer.

Watkins was eventually arrested and brought to Dane County Jail. According to the complaint, the conspiracy and intimidation charges arose from an alleged plot by Watkins and James while in the jail to hire a sniper to assassinate E.M. (R. 1). The solicitation charge was based on a note that Watkins

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 16 of 52

allegedly sent to James asking him to find someone to commit perjury in his upcoming trial. (*Id.*)

At trial, jail officials explained how James approached them with a claim that Watkins solicited his help to find someone to kill E.M. On May 28, 2016, James sent jail officials a note claiming that "I have come across information that an inmate I am housed with has been trying to place a hit on an officer." (R.176:95-100; R.70).

Jail officials then interviewed James about his claim. (R. 176:125-136). James gave officials an anonymous note (referred to as "Note 1" during the trial) that he claimed he found in his cell. (R. 71; 176:237). The note read as follows:

D.J.

Bro, I heard that you may know people who will do my friend a favor. He will pay whatever to have two pigs in madison slaugter and the bitch who called them on him. They say he batterd two pigs and his ex. He will work for you until his debt is pay off. He already try something else but they was all talk. Let me know if you can help. This no joke, this is real.

Please flush this.

P.S. If you can't help can you point me in the direction of who can? Someone say they will do it but we want to be sure it is done for real.

With all respect.

(R.176:124-129; R.71) (all sic).

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 17 of 52

James told officials that he wrote a note asking who had sent him the first note, and placed it in a public area. (R. 176:237-238). James claimed that he then received a second anonymous note ("Note 2"), which he also gave to officials. The note read:

Bro

He just scare to approach you so he ask me to. This is not a setup. I swear on my life!

(R.176:128-130; R.72) (all sic).

James claimed he did not know who had sent him the notes, or on whose behalf they were sent. (R. 176:240). However, James said he suspected that the notes were sent on Watkins's behalf because Watkins had seen his arresting officer, E.M., on television, and said something to the effect of "I want that bitch dead. That's the bitch that arrested me." (R.176:239).

James told jail officials that he was a Marine sniper in Iraq and Afghanistan. (R.176:138). Prosecutors later determined that James never served in the military. (*Id.* at 144-45).

Law enforcement officials met with James, and told him that they were "thinking that we could get you out of here quicker" with James's cooperation. (R.176:140-141). Officials arranged for James to wear a wire to gather evidence that Watkins was attempting to hire someone to kill E.M. (*Id.* at 168-176). Although James was instructed not to contact Watkins about the alleged plot without the wire, James purported to write Watkins a note pushing

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 18 of 52

Watkins to make a decision about the scheme. (R. 74; 176:241-242, 319). Watkins supposedly wrote in reply "I need her gone." (*Id.*)

James also wrote a note, again against law enforcement's instructions, asking Watkins for personal information about E.M. (R. 75; 176:240-243; 177:50). Watkins purportedly replied with E.M.'s name and other information. (*Id.*) This information was in police reports provided to Watkins's as discovery, and James admitted that he had reviewed the reports as Watkins's jailmate. (R.176:207).

James wore a wire twice, each time for two hours. James was instructed not to discuss the alleged plot when he was not being recorded, but did so anyway. (R. 176:319; 177:38-42). During the recording, Watkins supposedly asked James to find someone who would testify favorably about Watkins's altercation with police. James testified that Watkins wrote him another note outlining the prospective witness's testimony. (R.176:258; R. 77).

Because the recordings did not establish the conspiracy to kill E.M., law enforcement and James concocted a plot for Watkins to call an ATF official posing as James's uncle's friend who would carry out the "hit." (R.176:206). As part of the plan, to avoid explicitly talking about a murder-for-hire plot, the ATF and James agreed that Watkins should be told to speak in code, by referring to a car that needed fixing. (R.176:201-207). However, it was undisputed

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 19 of 52

that Watkins and James had legitimately discussed how Watkins's car needed repairs. (*Id.*)

Watkins was recorded asking the ATF agent to fix his car, and agreeing to transfer \$30 as gas money to fix the car. (177:35). Watkins then arranged for James's girlfriend to receive the \$30 from his account. (*Id.*)

D. After the Trial

After Watkins's trial, Damian James was twice arrested and convicted of impersonating a police officer. Watkins moved for a new trial based on this newly discovered evidence. (R. 135). The parties stipulated that the police reports describing James's exploits could be used in lieu of calling the officers as witnesses at a postconviction hearing. (R. 146:1).

According to the first report, on or about June 13, 2017 (about one month after Watkins's trial), James came into a convenience store dressed as a Marine. (R. 136:8). A store clerk happened to be a former member of the armed forces, and observed that James' "uniform" was not assembled correctly. (*Id.*) The clerk started questioning James about his service, prompting James to leave the store. (*Id.*) Days later, James returned to the store wearing a gun on his hip, and identified himself to the clerk as a City of Madison police officer. (*Id.*)

Then, on June 23, 2017, a special agent with the Wisconsin Department of Justice overheard James jokingly tell a convenience store clerk that Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 20 of 52

James was going to go behind the counter and arrest her. (R.136:3). The agent made eye contact with James, who then told him "I'm a Madison Police Officer." (*Id.*) The agent could see a gold badge on James's waist and a bulge in James's shirt suggesting a gun was underneath. (*Id.*)

The owner of the convenience store contacted police on June 27, 2017, after James again came into the store "open carrying a pistol on his hip with a badge." (R. 136:7). The next day police interviewed one of the store clerks, who said that James was a regular customer, and two weeks earlier had started claiming that he was in training to be a Madison police officer. (R. 136:10). He promised he would visit the store in uniform soon, and one time said he had to leave because he had to go on a call involving a "suicidal female." (*Id.*)

James was arrested later that day. (R. 136:12). James was carrying in a hip holster what looked like a semi-automatic pistol, but was actually an airgun. (*Id.*) Police also found a gold badge with his belongings. (*Id.*)

James was charged with impersonating an officer, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.70(1)(a). State v. James, Dane County Case No. 2017CM1362. (R. 137). On September 28, 2017, James pleaded guilty and was sentenced to six months jail. (*Id.*)

James again falsely claimed to be a police officer the following year. While opening a bank account on July 26, 2018, James claimed to be a

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 21 of 52

Milwaukee County Sheriff who had recently transferred from the Madison Police Department, showing the bank employee what he claimed was his badge. (R. 144:3-4). James further claimed that he was on the detail for transporting the body of Officer of Milwaukee Michael Michalski the Police Department, who was killed the day before in the line of duty. (Id.)

As per bank policy, the bank accepted James's badge as identification, and allowed him to open an account. (R. 144:4). Hours after opening the account, James deposited a fake check in the amount of \$2,500 and then attempted to withdraw \$1,200 from the account. James was unsuccessful, but his activities caused the bank to call the police. (*Id.*)

On August 13, 2018, James was charged with multiple counts arising from the incident. *State v. James*, Milwaukee County Case No. 2018CF003798. (R. 138:1-2). James pleaded guilty to impersonating a police officer on October 11, 2018, and was sentenced to nine months of jail.

E. Postconviction Litigation

As noted above, Watkins moved for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence. Wis. Stat. § 809.30. (R. 135). Watkins also moved to reconstruct the record with the numerous audio and audio/video recordings during trial. The clips were entered into evidence as files on six different flash drives, and many of the flash drives contained multiple copies of the same clips, as well as recordings that were not

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 22 of 52

played at trial. In addition, trial counsel did not consistently indicate the start and stop time of each recording being played. Further, transcripts were provided to the jury and the court, but not marked for identification and not included in the record. The parties ultimately entered into a joint stipulation approved by the court that collected all the clips played at trial as well as the corresponding transcripts. (R. 146-167).

The court denied Watkins's motion for a new trial in a written order. (R. 145; App. 101). The court's decision is discussed in context below.

ARGUMENT

I. Newly discovered evidence

A. Legal Standards

The standard for granting a new trial based on the discovery of new evidence is well-established:

When moving for a new trial based on the allegation of newly-discovered evidence, a defendant must prove: (1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking the evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative. If the defendant is able to prove all four of these criteria, then it must be determined whether a reasonable probability exists that had the jury heard the newly-discovered evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt.

Case 2019AP001996 Appellant Brief Filed 07-20-2020 Page 23 of 52

State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 32, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 48, 750 N.W.2d 42, 52 (citation and quotation marks omitted). "The decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence is committed to the circuit court's discretion." Id. at ¶ 31.

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