FILED 10-15-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1996-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALIJOUWON T. WATKINS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT.§ (RULE) 809.30 POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSANN M. REYNOLDS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 21 of 34

examination and the testimony of numerous other witnesses during the trial in this matter." (R. 145:8.)

Because Watkins fails to prove that evidence of Janson's subsequent conduct and arrests are not cumulative, he similarly fails to prove that this evidence is newly discovered. This Court should affirm the postconviction court's decision denying Watkins' motion for a new trial.

D. Because the evidence against Watkins was overwhelming, a reasonable probability does not exist that, had the jury heard Janson's subsequent conduct and arrests, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to Watkins' guilt.

Finally, even if this Court agrees with Watkins that he has met the four factors of newly-discovered evidence, a reasonable probably does not exist that had the jury heard the newly-discovered evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to Watkins' guilt on Count 9, 10, and 11. *See McAlister*, 380 Wis. 2d 684, ¶ 32. The evidence against him was overwhelming.

Watkins argues that while there was "some evidence" attacking Janson's credibility, the new evidence of Janson's arrests and conduct "would have tipped the scales." (Watkins' Br. 28.) But as argued above in Section I. C., and to avoid repetition, there was not just "some evidence" of Janson's credibility, there was extensive evidence, including lies to his wife, the detectives on the case, and other inmates. (R. 176:233, 281, 285–86, 327–28.) The jury also heard that Janson has seven prior convictions, which directly relates to his credibility as a witness, as the court instructed the jury at the end of the trial. (R. 176:233.)

The jury found Watkins guilty because, even putting aside Janson's testimony, there was overwhelming evidence of Watkins' guilt as to Count 9, 10, and 11. As argued above

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 22 of 34

in distinguishing *State v. Thiel* (Section I. C.), in this case there were other witnesses and physical evidence showing Watkins' guilt of Counts 9, 10, and 11. It was based on all of this evidence that the jury was able to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Watkins was guilty of those crimes. The jury did not need to rely on Janson's testimony to find Watkins guilty, and it was instructed not to do so by the court. (R. 178:75–76.) So even if the newly-discovered evidence of Janson's subsequent convictions had come in at trial, the jury would not have had a reasonable doubt as to Watkins' guilt.

The postconviction court was correct: "The jury heard all of that testimony and still convicted Watkins. As such, the newly discovered evidence is unlikely to create a 'reasonable doubt' which would result in a different determination as to [Watkins'] guilt." (R. 145:13.) Finally, the State, like the postconviction court, could find no case that has allowed a defendant to be granted a new trial based on a witness's unrelated convictions that occurred after the defendant's trial was concluded. (R. 145:6.) To allow a defendant a new trial every time a witness gets convicted of a crime after a trial would undermine the finality of proceedings.

The postconviction court properly denied Watkins' motion for a new trial. This Court should affirm.

II. The circuit court's initial joinder of Watkins' two cases for trial was proper under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1).

Watkins next argues that the trial court improperly joined the two cases against him for trial. (Watkins' Br. 30.) Because joinder was proper and the joinder statute is broadly construed in favor of joinder, this Court should affirm.

A. The applicable standard of review is the standard of review for joinder, not severance.

The initial decision on the joinder of charges for a trial is a question of law this this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Salinas*, 2016 WI 44, \P 30, 369 Wis. 2d 9, 879 N.W.2d 609.

At times in his brief, Watkins phrases the issue as whether the trial court should have granted severance, or that he was "entitled to severance." (Watkins' Br. 35, 39.) But this case does not involve a motion for severance after initial joinder. Watkins never filed a motion to sever⁵, and therefore the court never ruled on "Watkins's request to sever the charges." (Watkins' Br. 40.) As the supreme court stated in Salinas, "the initial joinder decision and a decision to sever properly joined charges are distinct considerations that require different standards of review." 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 30. And here, Watkins is correct that "it does not appear that the court ruled on the request" (Watkins' Br. 40), and that is because Watkins never made it. The only motion before the trial court was the State's motion to consolidate and join the cases. (R. 17; 172:2.) Because the issue in Watkins' case "involves only whether the initial joinder was proper, [this Court's] review is de novo." See Salinas, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 30.

B. The joinder statute is to be broadly construed in favor of joinder.

Joinder of cases is governed by Wis. Stat. § 971.12. Subsection (4) provides that the circuit "court may order 2 or

⁵ In defense counsel's response to the State's motion to consolidate, he recognizes that "where joinder is proper, a defendant may move to sever the counts on the basis of prejudice." (R. 20:15.) And, "When a defendant moves to sever, 'the trial court must determine what, if any, prejudice would result from a trial on the joined offenses." (R. 20:16.) The appellate record indicates that Watkins never moved to sever the cases.

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 24 of 34

more complaints, informations or indictments to be tried together if the crimes . . . could have been joined in a single complaint, information or indictment" under subsection (1). That section of the statute, entitled "joinder of crimes," provides that the State may charge two or more felony and misdemeanor crimes together, in a separate count for each crime, if the charges: (1) "are of the same or similar character"; (2) "are based on the same act or transaction"; (3) are based on two or more acts or transactions that are "connected together"; or (4) are based on two or more acts or transactions that constitute "a common scheme or plan." Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1); Salinas, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 31.

In determining whether two cases are "connected together" so that they may properly be joined for trial under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1), a reviewing court considers factors including whether: the charges are "closely related"; the charges have "common factors of substantial importance"; one charge arose "out of the investigation of the other"; the charges are "close in time or close in location," or involve the same victims; the charges are "similar in manner, scheme or plan"; one of the crimes was "committed to prevent punishment for another"; and joinder would "serve the goals and purposes of Wis. Stat. § 971.12." Salinas, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 43. The goals behind the joinder statute include having the connected issues "resolved in one trial," allowing the victim to testify only once, and "efficiently conserv[ing]" the "judicial" resources utilized to mete out justice." Id. ¶ 44 (citations omitted).

Initial joinder decisions are interpreted broadly "because of the goals and purposes of the joinder statute: (1) trial economy and convenience; (2) to promote efficiency in judicial administration; and (3) to eliminate multiple trials against the same defendant, which promotes fiscal responsibility." *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 36.

C. The circuit court's joinder of Watkins' crimes was appropriate because the crimes are "connected together" and joinder in this case served the purposes and goals of the joinder statute.

In seeking joinder, the State argued that "the facts of the latter are necessary to prove the elements of the former, and the former is necessary to prove [Watkins'] consciousness of guilt in the latter." (R. 17:14.) Both cases, the State noted, involved the same victim, occurred in Madison, and occurred within approximately one year of each other. (Id.) It also noted that its theory was that Watkins' "actions in 16CF1270 were motivated by his desire to avoid additional punishment for his actions in [case no.] 17CF321." (R. 17:18.) Watkins' actions in jail while awaiting trial of case no. 17CF321, according to the State, were compelling because of its "strong connection" with Watkins' actions in case no. 16CF1270. (R. 17:19.) And, that but for Watkins' actions and subsequent incarceration in 17CF321, "he would not have been soliciting a hitman or perjury in 16CF1270." (R. 17:19–20.) Further, at the motion hearing, the State argued:

- "Motive and intent would bring all of these acts into the same trial."
- "The conspiracy case unequivocally is pertinent to the domestic violence case because it's all consciousness-of-guilt evidence."
- "[T]he bulk of the conspiracy case would be admissible and would be incurred by the jury in the domestic violence case."
- "In order for the jury to be able to ascertain that what was being requested was perjury, the jury would have to know what the underlying facts of the first case are." And,

• "[I]t is in the public interest to avoid duplicitous time-consuming trials that the cases be joined." 6

Page 26 of 34

(R. 172:4-5.)

In granting the State's motion, the court noted that Officer E.M. "was material and hands-on in the original domestic incident." (R. 172:5–6.) And, that "without the domestic-abuse incidents coming in and that arrest and the surrounding circumstances coming in in the May 28, 2016 charges, there's no context for the jury." (R. 172:6.) So the cases "are clearly intertwined. Each is relevant in the other to give motive, intent, context. They are related." (*Id.*) The court also noted that the cases involve the same parties, and that joining them would further the "fundamental use of judicial resources, witnesses, court time, attorneys." (*Id.*) According to the court, "joinder is the only logical step to take." (*Id.*)

The circuit court properly exercised its broad discretion in joining the cases. The cases are "connected together" under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1), as the conspiracy-related charges arose "out of the investigation of the other"; all of the charges are "close in time or close in location," occurring within a year⁷ in the same city; and the victim of Counts 9, 10, 11, was involved in Watkins' arrest for Counts 1–8. *See Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 43. And as the State alleged in its amended information, Watkins "knowingly and maliciously did attempt to prevent a

⁶ While Watkins is correct that the State argued that joinder was appropriate because the cases were of the same or similar character (Watkins' Br. 32–34), as shown above, that is not the only reason the State argued for joinder, and it is not the reason that the circuit court relied on in granting joinder.

⁷ Watkins argues, with no citation to the record, that "the events underlying the Conspiracy case took place over a year after the Assault case." (Watkins' Br. 34.) This is incorrect. It was less than a year. (R. 1:1–6; 31:1–4.)

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 27 of 34

witness, [E.M.], from attending or giving testimony at" his trial for Counts 1–8. (R. 31:3.)

Finally, as the circuit court determined (R. 172:6), joinder would "serve the goals and purposes of Wis. Stat. § 971.12." *See Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 43. Here, all of the charges against Watkins in this case were resolved in one trial, allowing Officer E.M. "to testify only once, and the judicial resources utilized to mete out justice were efficiently conserved." *See Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 44.

In granting the State's motion for joinder, the circuit correctly exercised is broad discretion in finding the factors supporting joinder were present. This Court should affirm that decision.

D. Even if joinder was improper, the error was harmless because the evidence of Watkins' guilt was overwhelming.

If a circuit court errs in granting a motion for joinder, the decision is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Davis*, 2006 WI App 23, ¶ 21, 289 Wis. 2d 398, 710 N.W.2d 514. "Such a policy is acceptable and even desirable when harmlessness is demonstrated by overwhelming evidence of guilt or when the court is convinced for other reasons that 'the error did not influence the jury or had but very slight effect." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 671–72, 370 N.W.2d 240 (1985)). To show that an error is harmless, the State must show that it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, ¶ 44, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317 (citation omitted).

Watkins argues that unlike the assault charges against Watkins which were "well-supported" (Watkins' Br. 37), "the State's case for the Conspiracy charges was paper thin." (Watkin's Br. 37.) The opposite is true.

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 28 of 34

Watkins was convicted on overwhelming evidence on Counts 9, 10, and 11. As argued in Section I., in addition to Janson's testimony, this evidence includes a jail call where Watkins says that he wanted E.M. to get shot in the face while she was on duty. (R. 175:381; 159:1.) It includes that Watkins had E.M.'s personal information in his jail cell when it was searched by law enforcement. (R. 175:235; 177:93-94.) It includes a jail call where Watkins says he has a plan to make "mother fucker disappear and shit." (R. 175:385–86; 161:1.) It includes several recorded conversations between Watkins and Janson that were played for the jury, where the jury was able to assess the meaning of the conversations and the things Watkins said. (R. 146:2, 4–5.) These recorded conversations included Watkins telling Janson that he knew what he was getting into, and that there was no going back on the conspiracy. (R. 176:221.) The evidence includes a video of Watkins and Janson meeting at the jail. (R. 176:246.) It includes the recorded jail call of Watkins to an undercover ATF agent, whom he solicited to commit the homicide for thirty dollars. (R. 177:32–33.) In this call, which the jury heard, Watkins agrees to release the money to Janson's wife to commit the homicide. (*Id.*) Finally, the evidence includes Watkins' written request to release the thirty dollars to Janson's wife from his jail funds. (R. 177:65-67; 85.) So as shown above, the State did not rely on Janson's credibility and testimony to show Watkins' guilt as to Counts 9, 10, and 11. (See Watkins' Br. 37.)

Because the evidence of Watkins' guilt was overwhelming, any error in joining the cases was harmless error.

E. By failing to make a severance motion, the issue of severance is not ripe for appeal.

Under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3), a defendant may move to sever charges that have been joined for trial on the grounds

Case 2019AP001996 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-15-2020 Page 29 of 34

that severance is necessary based on prejudice to the defendant. *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 47. Specifically, "[i]f it appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a joinder of crimes . . . for trial together, the court may order separate trials of counts, grant a severance . . . or provide whatever other relief justice requires." Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3). When a defendant fails to file a motion to sever under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3) the charges that have been joined, prejudice is not at issue on appeal. *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 49 ("Failing to make a severance motion, regardless of the reason, however, results in this issue not being ripe for our consideration.").

In this case, Watkins argues that even if joinder was proper, joinder prejudiced him and he was entitled to having the charges severed. (Watkins' Br. 35.) But Watkins never filed a severance motion. And procedurally, this case is just like *Salinas*: the State moved to consolidate and join the cases, the defendant objected, the trial court granted the State's motion, the State filed an amended information consolidating the cases, and the defendant never "filed[d] a motion seeking severance of the joined charges." 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶¶ 11, 13, 14, 16. Therefore, just like *Salinas*, this Court's opinion should be "limited to [its] holding that initial joinder here was proper." *See id.* ¶ 49. Watkins' argument that the trial court erroneously denied his "request" for joinder (Watkins' Br. 35–39) and that he was prejudiced as a result is not properly before this Court.

F. Watkins suffered no prejudice from joinder.

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